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I. BACKGROUND
A. Procedural History

On October 30, 1991, the State of Connecticut, the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts and the State of Rhode
Island and Providence Plantations (“Plaintiff States”)
sought to invoke this Court’s original jurisdiction by
moving for leave to file a complaint against the State of
New Hampshire challenging the constitutionality of a
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was available in an alternative forum; (4) extensive evi-
dentiary hearings would be required; (5) injury was non-
existent or insubstantial; and (6) the Plaintiff States could
not prevail on the merits.

- The Plaintiff States filed their reply brief on January
10, 1992. On January 27, 1992, this Court granted the
States’ motion to file, allowing the Defendant State of
New Hampshire 60 days to answer (Rehnquist, C.J., and
Scalia, J., would have set the motion for oral argument;
Souter, J., did not participate). Shortly after New Hamp-
shire answered on March 25, 1992, two groups moved to
intervene: (1) the Connecticut Office of Consumer Coun-
sel (“Consumer Counsel”) and (2) six of the utility
owners of Seabrook Station; namely, The United Illu-
minating Company (“UI”), New England Power Com-
pany (“NEP”), The Connecticut Light and Power
Company (“CL&P”), Canal Electric Company (“Canal”),
Montaup Electric Company (“Montaup”) and Taunton
Municipal Lighting Plant (“Taunton”) (collectively, “Util-
ities” or “Intervening Utilities”).

On April 27, 1992, the Court appointed the under-
signed special master in this case (Souter, J., not partici-
pating). After taking the oath of special master on May 1,
1992, I called a first meeting with counsel on May 15,
1992. By Order dated May 18, 1992, the Court referred to
me the pending motions to intervene (Souter, J., not par-
ticipating). On May 26, 1992, I filed with the Court my
First Interim Report recommending that the Court deny
the Consumer Counsel’s motion to intervene, and grant



newly enacted ad valorem tax on nuclear station property
(the “Seabrook Tax”)! and related tax changes.

Suing in a proprietary capacity as themselves sub-
stantial consumers of electricity generated at Seabrook,
and also in a parens patriae capacity as representatives of
their citizen-consumers, the Plaintiff States urged this
Court to declare the Seabrook Tax scheme unconstitu-
tional on the grounds that it contravened (1) the Suprem-
acy Clause of the United States Constitution, art. VI, cl. 2,
by imposing a discriminatory tax in violation of 15 U.S.C.
§ 391; (2) the Commerce Clause, art. I, § 8, cl. 3, by
imposing an undue burden on interstate commerce; (3)
the Fourteenth Amendment, by depriving the Plaintiff
States and their citizens of equal protection of the laws;
and (4) the Privileges and Immunities Clause, art. IV, § 2,
cl 1.

On December 27, 1991, the New England Council and
the Associated Industries of Massachusetts, representing
private users of electricity, filed an amicus curiae brief in
support of the States” motion to file.

On December 30, 1991, New Hampshire filed its brief
in opposition to the motion to file, arguing that (1) the
Plaintiff States, which did not themselves directly pay the
Seabrook Tax, lacked standing to sue; (2) the suit was
premature, in that the first tax returns reflecting imposi-
tion of the tax had not then been filed and the tax not yet
passed through to customers in electric rates; (3) relief

1 The only nuclear generating station in New Hampshire
(and thus the only facility affected by the tax) is the Seabrook
Station located in the town of Seabrook, New Hampshire.



merits by October 9, 1992, New Hampshire to submit its
brief on the merits by November 9, and the Plaintiff
States, the Intervening Utilities and the Amici to submit
any reply briefs by November 23. All parties complied.
Oral argument was held before me at the Edward T.
Gignoux United States Courthouse in Portland, Maine, on
December 8, 1992. I now submit this Final Report.

B. Factual Summary

The parties have stipulated a full record for submis-
sion of the legal issues to the Court. I present the follow-
ing factual synopsis to explain the background for my
recommended conclusions of law.

1. The Setting of This Litigation

The largest of the eight nuclear generating stations in
New England, the Seabrook Station is the only one
located in New Hampshire. Seabrook is owned jointly as
tenants in common by 12 utilities doing a retail electric
business, either directly or through affiliates, in the States
of New Hampshire, Connecticut, Massachusetts, Rhode
Island and Vermont. Those 12 utility owners of Seabrook
and their respective percentage shares are set forth in
Appendix A attached to this Report.

The Seabrook Station began generating electricity in
May 1990, nearly 15 years after the Nuclear Regulatory
Commission first issued a permit for its construction. The
project had been marked by much controversy and delay,
with three Seabrook owners - Public Service Company of
New Hampshire (“PSNH”), New Hampshire Electric



the motion of the six Utilities.2 On June 15, 1992, the
Court accepted the recommendations of the First Interim
Report (Souter, J., not participating).

Following the first meeting of counsel on May 15, the
parties, with outstanding professionalism and diligence,
set about under my direction shaping up the issues and
stipulating to the record. Counsel met with me again on
June 15 and July 31, 1992, and worked intensively among
themselves throughout the summer, culminating, at a
final meeting with me on September 9, 1992, in their
submission of an entire stipulated record for the presen-
tation of the contested issues of law to the Court. The
parties, in addition, had narrowed the legal issues in the
case, with the Plaintiffs paring from four to two their
alternative grounds for relief (retaining only their causes
of action based on the Commerce Clause and 15 U.S.C.
§ 391).

The need for an evidentiary hearing having been
obviated, I directed the Plaintiff States, the Intervening
Utilities and the Amici to submit their briefs on the

2 For purposes of the proceedings before me, I likewise
denied the motion of the Consumer Counsel and granted the
motion of the six Utilities to intervene, nonetheless affording
the Consumer Counsel amicus curiae status. Subsequently, I
permitted two groups to participate as amici curiae in proceed-
ings before me: the Massachusetts Municipal Wholesale Electric
Company (“MMWEC”), a governmental entity and a joint
owner of Seabrook Station, and a trade group consisting of the
New England Council, the Associated Industries of Massa-
chusetts and the Connecticut Business & Industry Association.
This Court granted MMWEC amicus curiae status by order
dated June 22, 1992 (Souter, J., not participating).



Seabrook Tax paid — were declared nonseverable in the
event either were found unconstitutional. 1991 N.H. Laws
ch. 354, § 19.

2. The Seabrook Tax

The Seabrook Tax is an ad valorem tax, assessed annu-
ally at 0.64 percent of the valuation of:

land, buildings, structures, tunnels, machinery,
dynamos, apparatus, poles, wires, nuclear fuel
and fixtures of all kinds and descriptions used
in generating, producing, supplying and distrib-
uting electric power or light from the fission of
atoms, exclusive of transmission lines.

N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 83-D:2. The tax is assessed on each
of the joint owners of nuclear station property in propor-
tion to its ownership share. N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 83-
D:5.5

Going into effect on July 1, 1991, the Seabrook Tax
was limited to a half-year collection in that year, based on
a total valuation set by the Legislature of $3.5 billion.
N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 83-D:9. For the last half of 1991,
Seabrook’s joint owners collectively paid $11.2 million in
Seabrook Tax.

5 Revenues derived from the Seabrook Tax are credited to
New Hampshire’s General Fund and are not segregated or
reserved for the payment of costs attributable to the operation
of a nuclear power plant. The General Fund finances a wide
variety of State services, among them police and fire protection,
maintenance of the judicial system and various educational pro-
grams.



Cooperative, Inc. (“New Hampshire Co-op”) and EUA
Power Corporation (“EUA Power”) - filing for bank-
ruptcy.

Following the start of power generation at the Sea-
brook Station, the State of New Hampshire reexamined
the manner in which its sole nuclear facility was taxed. At
the time, Seabrook’s owners were subject to two possible
State taxes: the New Hampshire Franchise Tax (assessed
upon receipts from the sale of gas or electricity pursuant
to franchises granted by the State of New Hampshire)
and the New Hampshire Business Profits Tax (assessed
on the share of a company’s, or unitary business’s, profits
allocable to New Hampshire on the basis of a three-part
formula).3

New Hampshire’s reexamination culminated in the
enactment of Chapter 354 of the 1991 Laws of New
Hampshire, which, effective July 1, 1991, (1) repealed the
application of the Franchise Tax to electric utilities, (2)
- created the Seabrook Tax4 and (3) granted a credit for the
amount paid in Seabrook Tax against any Business Profits
Tax owed. N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 83-D:2-3, 83-D:6, 77-
A:5(VI); 83-C:1 (II) & (IV). Two provisions — the Seabrook
Tax and the credit against the Business Profits Tax for

3 The Seabrook Station is also subject to local property taxes
- and State assessments for special purposes, including nuclear
plant decommissioning and the preparation, maintenance and
operation of the State’s emergency nuclear response program.

4 New Hampshire imposes no other statewide ad valorem
tax on electric utility property; however, the State has imposed
statewide property taxes on other types of business, including a
tax on railroad property.



between certain Seabrook owners and (1) their retail sub-
sidiaries, (2) their retail affiliates and/or (3) other util-
ities. State regulatory authorities regulate the rates of
retail sales of electricity by most of the joint owners of
Seabrook or their retail affiliates. For at least one of the
utility owners of Seabrook, the Massachusetts Municipal
Wholesale Electric Company (“MMWEC”), neither FERC
nor State approval is necessary to pass through Seabrook
Station costs to consumer rates.

Utilities regulated by FERC and/or the States have,
with regulatory approval, begun passing through the cost
of the Seabrook Tax to customer rates in the States of
New Hampshire, Massachusetts and Rhode Island. See
Appendix B. Utilities not subject to rate regulation have
also passed the cost through to customers in those States.
Id. In addition, the Connecticut Department of Public
Utility Control has authorized Ul to begin recovering the
cost of the Seabrook Tax in retail rates charged to the
State of Connecticut and other Connecticut consumers
beginning on January 1, 1993.

4. The New Hampshire Business Profits Tax

New Hampshire imposes a Business Profits Tax upon
the profits of all businesses operating in New Hampshire
save for tax-exempt nonprofit corporations. N.H. Rev.
Stat. Ann. §§ 77-A:1(I), 77-A:2.

The Business Profits Tax is imposed on a “unitary
business” basis, with New Hampshire in effect piercing
the corporate veil for tax purposes by taxing New Hamp-
shire’s allocable portion of any holding group’s entire
income, rather than the income in isolation of the member



Chapter 354 provided for subsequent valuation by
the New Hampshire Department of Revenue Administra-
tion. N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 83-D:4. The valuation for 1992
is expected to increase to approximately $3.75 billion.
Based upon that figure, Seabrook Tax payments for 1992
will total approximately $24 million.

3. The Impact of the Seabrook Tax

i. The Plaintiff States’ Proprietary Con-
sumption

The Plaintiff States are themselves substantial con-
sumers of electricity purchased from owners of the Sea-
brook Station or their affiliates. The record shows that in
the fiscal year ended June 30, 1992, Massachusetts pur-
chased from them approximately $11.5 million of electric-
ity and Rhode Island, approximately $14.9 million of
electricity. During the prior fiscal year Connecticut had
purchased approximately $38.8 million of electricity from
Seabrook owners.

ii. The Plaintiff States” Citizens’ Consump-
tion
Approximately 97 percent of the population of Con-
necticut, 64 percent of the population of Massachusetts
and 100 percent of the population of Rhode Island pur-
chase electricity from joint owners of the Seabrook Sta-
tion or their affiliates.

iii. The Pass-Through of the Seabrook Tax
Cost to Consumer Rates

The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
(“FERC”) regulates the sale of electricity at wholesale
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group. N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 77-A:5(VI). The Seabrook Tax
credit may be taken in full, dollar-for-dollar, against Busi-
ness Profits Tax liability in the year for which Seabrook
Tax is paid; unused credit may not be carried forward.

For 1991, the year at the midpoint of which the Sea-
brook Tax took effect, only one owner of the Seabrook
Station paid any Business Profits Tax to the State of New
Hampshire. See Appendix C. This owner’s unitary busi-
ness, New England Electric System (“NEES”), used its
Seabrook Tax credit of $1,115,258 with other credits to
reduce its Business Profits Tax liability to $127,382; it
would have paid no Business Profits Tax at all in 1991 if
the Seabrook Tax had been in effect for the full year. In
1991 three others used their Seabrook Tax credit to wipe
out completely their Business Profits Tax liability; five
were not subject to the Business Profits Tax because they
are tax-exempt; and the remaining three did not incur any
Business Profits Tax liability because they (or their unitary
group) did not have net profits. Id.

The Plaintiffs project that for both 1992 and 1993, no
Seabrook joint owner will pay the Business Profits Tax for
the same mix of reasons — tax-exemption, lack of net profits
and use of the Seabrook Tax credit.6 See Appendix C.

ii. The Seabrook Tax Credit in the Context
of Interstate Taxation

The three Plaintiff States, Connecticut, Massachusetts
and Rhode Island, all impose business profits taxes and

6 The Plaintiffs acknowledge that projections are based on
assumptions and that final results could be different; they intro-
duce these projections merely for purposes of illustrating the
operation of the New Hampshire tax system.
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or members of the group doing business in New Hamp-
shire. N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 77-A:1(XIV), 77-A:3(III).
Businesses (or unitary groups) deriving “gross business
profits from business activity both within and without
this state” must apportion profits “so as to allocate to this
state a fair and equitable proportion of such business
profits.” N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 77-A:3(]).

Allocation, in turn, is accomplished by applying a
three-part statutory formula through which the interstate
business (or unitary group):

- calculates its percentage of in-state prop-
erty compared with all property everywhere;

- calculates its percentage of in-state com-
pensation paid compared with all compensation
paid everywhere; and

— calculates its percentage of in-state sales

compared with all sales everywhere.
N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 77-A:3(]); see note 13 below. The
business (or unitary group) then adds the property factor
to the compensation factor and 1.5 times the sales factor.
N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 77-A:3(II)(a). That total divided by
3.5 equals the percentage of income allocable to New
Hampshire. Id. The share of income allocable to New
Hampshire is then taxed at a rate of 8 percent. N.H. Rev.
Stat. Ann. § 77-A:2.

i. The Interaction of the Seabrook Tax
Credit and the Business Profits Tax

The 1991 New Hampshire Legislature in the same
Chapter 354 that enacted the Seabrook Tax provided a

credit for that tax against any Business Profits Tax lia-
bility of a Seabrook owner or, as applicable, its unitary
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C. The Contentions of the Parties

The Plaintiffs, having pared down the number of
grounds for their constitutional challenge to the Seabrook
Tax scheme,” press the following contentions before this
Court:

1. This case falls within, and remains appropriate
for the exercise of, the Court’s original jurisdiction.

2. The Seabrook Tax and credit scheme offends the
Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution in
that it discriminates against interstate commerce in viola-
tion of 15 U.S.C. § 391 (proscribing discriminatory State
taxation “on or with respect to” the generation or trans-
mission of electricity).8

3. The Seabrook Tax and credit scheme discrimi-
nates against interstate commerce in violation of the
Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution.?

4. The Court, in addition to entering a permanent
injunction against the collection of the Seabrook Tax,

7 The Plaintiffs have waived contentions that the Seabrook
Tax scheme violates the Equal Protection and the Privileges and
Immunities Clauses of the United States Constitution. They
have in addition waived two of their three original grounds for
Commerce Clause attack: that the scheme is (1) unfairly appor-
tioned and (2) unrelated to services provided by New Hamp-
shire.

- 8 The Intervening Utilities in addition contend that the Sea-
brook Tax standing alone violates Section 391. See notes 11, 17
below.

 The Intervening Utilities in addition contend that the Sea-

brook Tax standing alone violates the Commerce Clause. See
note 17 below.
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apply to interstate income allocation formulas based on
the same three factors used by New Hampshire. Conn.
Gen. Stat. §§ 12-213 et seq.; Mass. Gen. L. ch. 63, § 52A; R.L.
Gen. Laws §§ 41-13-1 et seq. None of the three Plaintiff
States either imposes a statewide ad valorem tax on nuclear
station property or affords a credit against its own busi-
ness profits taxes for Seabrook Tax paid. As a result,
Seabrook owners (or their unitary groups) remain liable
for taxation in the Plaintiff States on all of their income not
attributable to New Hampshire. See Appendix C.

5. Distribution of the Ownership of the Sea-
brook Station

At the outset of this action, the largest share of the
Seabrook Station (35.56942 percent) was owned by PSNH,
which serves retail electric customers in New Hampshire.
Most of the balance of the Seabrook ownership (about 60
percent) was held by utilities that, directly or indirectly,
serve customers outside New Hampshire. See Appendix
A. On June 5, 1992, by a Plan of Reorganization approved
in its Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceeding, PSNH became a
wholly owned subsidiary of Northeast Utilities (“NU")
and transferred to another newly formed subsidiary of
NU, North Atlantic Energy Corporation (“North Atlan-
tic”), its ownership in Seabrook Station, retaining, how-
ever, by contract the right to continue to receive the entire
35.56942 percent share of the Seabrook production for as

long as the Station operates. For purposes of the New

Hampshire Business Profits Tax, PSNH by its reorganiza-
tion in bankruptcy became a member of the “unitary
business” consisting of NU and its subsidiaries, including
another Seabrook owner, The Connecticut Light and
Power Company (“CL&P”). See Appendix A.
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C. The Seabrook Tax and credit violate the Com-
merce Clause.

D. A refund of all Seabrook Tax paid less the credits
taken against the Business Profits Tax is the proper rem-
edy. '

ny reasons for making these recommendations fol-
low.

RECOMMENDATION A: This case remains appropri-
ate for the exercise of the
Court’s original jurisdic-
tion.

New Hampshire argues that one changed circum-
stance now undermines original jurisdiction of this case:
That the evidence now shows there is no “case or contro-
versy” because there is no discrimination against the
Plaintiff States. Cf. Wyoming v. Oklahoma, 112 S. Ct. 789,
796 (1992) (noting Oklahoma’s failure to point to “any
change of circumstance, whether of fact or law,” justify-
ing dismissal of case for lack of standing). Initially, as
New Hampshire notes, the Plaintiff States contended
before this Court that in-state consumers effectively were
exempt from the Seabrook Tax while out-of-state con-
sumers bore its brunt. The Stipulated Record has since
shown that (1) all Seabrook owners have paid, and are
projected to pay,-the Seabrook Tax; (2) none (save one in
1991) has paid, or is projected to pay, the Business Profits
Tax; (3) in-state owners have been unable to use the credit
because they, being tax-exempt or nonprofitable, have not
been liable for any Business Profits Tax; and (4)
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should order retrospective relief through refund of the
Seabrook Tax paid minus amounts owed on the Business
Profits Tax in the absence of the Seabrook Tax credit.

New Hampshire, for its part, contends that:

1. New facts reveal that the Plaintiffs lack standing
to bring this case and that, in addition, this case is non-
justiciable.

2. Neither the Seabrook Tax standing alone, nor the
Seabrook Tax and credit scheme, offends Section 391.

3. Neither the Seabrook Tax standing alone, nor the
Seabrook Tax and credit scheme, offends the Commerce
Clause.

4. Retrospective relief is barred by the Eleventh
Amendment or, alternatively, is inappropriate because
the Plaintiffs have suffered no injury and because New
Hampshire should be permitted to revise its own tax
system retrospectively to cure any defect.

&
v

II. RECOMMENDED CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

A thorough review of the Stipulated Record and care-
ful consideration of the parties’ excellent briefs and oral
argument have led me to the following conclusions of
law, which I now recommend to the Court for adoption:

A. This case remains appropriate for the exercise of
the Court’s original jurisdiction.

B. The Seabrook Tax and credit violate 15 U.S.C.
§ 391.
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Plaintiff States’ motion for leave to commence this origi-
nal jurisdiction action. Nonetheless, I note that this case
is, if possible, even more appropriate for the Court’s
exercise of original jurisdiction than when first accepted.
No other suit to date has been filed that raises the issues
herein presented, nor is there a readily identifiable alter-
native forum in which all of the parties could assert their
claims. This case, involving a tax on New Hampshire’s
only nuclear power plant that affects four other New
England States, is one of the utmost seriousness and
dignity. Considerations of judicial economy, in addition,
now weigh in the balance. The parties have expended
considerable energy and resources to stipulate the facts
and fully brief and argue the issues before me. The matter
is ripe for decision.

I have no hesitation in recommending that this Court
retain jurisdiction of this most pressing and serious mat-
ter.

RECOMMENDATION B: The Seabrook Tax and credit
violate 15 U.S.C. § 391.

Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 391, no State may “impose or
assess a tax on or with respect to the generation or
transmission of electricity which discriminates against
out-of-State manufacturers, producers, wholesalers,
retailers, or consumers of that electricity.” A tax is dis-
criminatory, for purposes of Section 391, “if it results,
either directly or indirectly, in a greater tax burden on
electricity which is generated and transmitted in inter-
state commerce than on electricity which is generated and
transmitted in intrastate commerce.”



16

customers in New Hampshire have borne as much of the
burden of the Seabrook Tax as those in the Plaintiff States.

New Hampshire’s “changed circumstance” strikes
me as an argument on the merits rather than an assertion
of a jurisdictional flaw, but assuming that it is relevant, it
does not suffice to oust the Court of jurisdiction. New
Hampshire’s argument presupposes that the stipulated
facts reveal no possible pattern of discrimination or
injury and therefore do not suffice to confer standing on
the Plaintiff States and the Intervening Utilities or to
present a justiciable controversy to the Court. To the
contrary, the Plaintiff States and the Intervening Utilities
assert sufficient injury upon which to premise jurisdiction
by demonstrating that the Intervening Utilities are liable
for and have been paying the challenged tax, the Plaintiff
States and their citizens have been purchasing electricity
generated by the Seabrook Station, and the cost of the
Seabrook Tax has generally been passed through to them
as consumers of Seabrook-generated electricity. Assum-
ing the Seabrook Tax and credit are in some respect
unconstitutional (the legal question to be resolved by the
Court), the Plaintiffs’ “injury” (the burden of an uncon-
stitutional tax) “ ‘fairly can be traced to the challenged
action of the defendant[.]’ ” Maryland v. Louisiana, 451
U.S. 725, 736 (1981) (quoting Simon v. Eastern Ky. Welfare
Rights Org., 426 U.S. 26, 41-42 (1976)). That asserted
wrong in turn would “furnish[] ground for judicial
redress[.]” Id. at 735-36 (quoting Massachusetts v. Missouri,
308 U.S. 1, 15 (1939)). No more is required for standing
and justiciability.

In no other respect does New Hampshire at this stage
take issue with the Court’s grant last January of the
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In form, the Seabrook Tax is a property tax; however,
it is in substance and reality a tax “with respect to” gener-
ation or transmission of electricity. It is a tax exclusively on
property that by definition is “used in generating, produc-
ing, supplying and distributing electric power or light
from the fission of atoms, exclusive of transmission lines.”
N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 83-D:2. It is paid by taxpayers
whose business is the generation of electricity. It can be
(and in many instances already has been) passed through
to consumers, thus imposing a “tax burden” on electricity.

2. The Seabrook Tax and credit discriminate
against interstate commerce in violation of
Section 391.11

Having determined that the Seabrook Tax falls within
the ambit of Section 391, I next examine whether the

Court of Nevada held (correctly, in my view) that a tax on the
right to receive electricity from tax-exempt property (the Nev-
ada side of the Hoover Dam) fell within the purview of Section
391. Although the statute at issue “purport{ed] to tax only the
value of the right to receive electricity, the difference is one
without a distinction. Nevada’s tax directly impacts on the
transmission of electricity to Cities, who in turn, must increase
the cost of electrical power to their resident-consumers.” Nevada
v. Burbank, 691 P.2d 845, 847 (Nev. 1984). Cf. Pacific Power & Light
Co. v. Montana Dep’t of Revenue, 773 P.2d 1176, 1185 (Mont. 1989),
cert. denied, 493 U.S. 1049 (1990) (holding, in the alternative, that
“beneficial use” tax was not encompassed by Section 391
because it fell “neither upon the generation nor the transmission
of electrical power, but upon the use of tax exempt facilities”).

11 The Intervening Utilities make an alternative contention
that the Seabrook Tax alone, without the credit, discriminates
against out-of-state consumers in violation of Section 391. I
recommend rejection of that contention for the same reasons as I
recommend rejection of the parallel assertion that the Seabrook
Tax by itself violates the Commerce Clause. See note 17 below.
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The Seabrook Tax is in my view a tax “with respect to
the generation or transmission of electricity” that, in com-
bination with its credit, discriminates in contravention of
Section 391.

1. Section 391 applies to the Seabrook Tax and
credit.

No legislative history elucidates the meaning of the
phrase “on or with respect to” in Section 391; nor did the
Court have occasion to consider the question in the lead-
ing case applying the statute, Arizona v. Snead, 441 U.S.
141 (1979). The phrase “with respect to,” however, cus-
tomarily signals broad application. See, e.g., The Random
House Dictionary of the English Language 1640 (2d ed.
1987) (defining “respect” in the phrase “with respect to”
as “relation or reference”). See also Morales v. Trans World
Airlines, Inc., 112 S. Ct. 2031, 2036-37 (1992) (construing
similar phrase, “related to,” broadly in context of Airline
Deregulation Act preemption). The correctness of this
construction resonates in the interstices of the statute
itself. The full phrase is “on or with respect to”; the
phrase “with respect to” would be mere surplusage if too
narrowly construed. The disjunctive “or” in the full
phrase is echoed in the later definition of discrimination,
proscribing taxation that “directly or indirectly” results in
disproportionate burdens. Indirect higher tax burdens
can result from taxes not directly on (but nonetheless
affecting) generation or transmission of electricity.’0

10 Two State high courts have addressed the question
whether a tax falls “on or with respect to” generation or trans-
mission of electricity for purposes of Section 391. The Supreme
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Payors of the Seabrook Tax likewise are allowed a credit
against a tax inherently assessed only on in-state activity
— the Business Profits Tax, assessed on income allocable to
New Hampshire by virtue of a formula based on sales,
payroll and property ownership in-state.13

It is true that the New Hampshire tax scheme differs
from the New Mexico tax scheme in that, whereas the
New Mexico scheme had a determinate outcome (the
credit always halved the amount of gross receipts tax
due), the effect of the New Hampshire scheme varies
depending on such factors as the extent of income alloca-
ble to New Hampshire, the profitability in any given year
of a Seabrook owner (or its unitary group) and the per-
centage share of Seabrook owned. Still, the fact that the
extent of discrimination fluctuates should not obfuscate
its existence. See, e.g., Maryland v. Louisiana, 451 U.S. at
760 (noting, in context of Commerce Clause analysis, “We

coverage of the Electrical Energy Tax paid on electricity gener-
ated within and consumed within the State.

13 Under New Hampshire’s apportionment formula, a busi-
ness (or unitary group) compares its percentage of “property
owned, rented and employed” in New Hampshire versus every-
where; its percentage of “total compensation paid” to
employees in New Hampshire versus everywhere; and its per-
centage of “total sales, including charges for services” in New
Hampshire versus everywhere. N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 77-
A:3(I)(a)(b) & (c). New Hampshire then provides that “[a] frac-
tion, the numerator of which shall be the property factor in
subparagraph I(a) plus the compensation factor in subpara-
graph I(b) plus 1.5 multiplied by the sales factor in subpara-
graph I(c) and the denominator of which is 3.5, shall be applied
to the total gross business profits (less foreign dividends) of the
business organization to ascertain its gross business profits in
this state.” N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 77-A:3(II)(a).
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Seabrook Tax and credit combination “results, either
directly or indirectly, in a greater tax burden on electricity
which is generated and transmitted in interstate com-
merce than on electricity which is generated and trans-
mitted in intrastate commerce.”

The Seabrook Tax, like the New Mexico Electrical
Energy Tax at issue in Arizona v. Snead, 441 U.S. 141, is a
tax on in-state activity (ownership of generating station
property in one case; generation of electricity in the
other) that in itself evenhandedly affects interstate and
intrastate commerce. The two percent Electrical Energy
Tax was assessed on all generation of electricity within
the State of New Mexico, regardless of final destination.
The Seabrook Tax likewise is assessed on all owners of
Seabrook in direct proportion to their ownership inter-
ests, regardless of final destination of Seabrook electricity.

The Seabrook Tax scheme, in addition, replicates the
flaw identified by this Court in the New Mexico Electrical
Energy Tax scheme: allowance of a credit for a local tax
paid against a separate local tax owed, with a resultant
discrimination against interstate commerce. Payors of the
New Mexico Electrical Energy Tax were allowed a credit
against a tax inherently assessed only on in-state activity
- the gross receipts tax on intrastate sales of electricity.1?

12 The New Mexico tax.statute provided that the credit
could be taken only for Electrical Energy Tax paid on “electricity
generated inside this state and consumed in this state[.]” 441
U.S. at 143 n.4. As a practical matter, the same result would have
obtained even if the statute had allowed all Electrical Energy
Tax paid to be credited against the gross receipts tax. The cover-
age of the gross receipts tax (in-state sales of electricity, i.e.,
electricity consumed within the State) was coextensive with the
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$10,000,000 in Seabrook Tax.l4 Using the Seabrook Tax
credit, Owner A escapes Business Profits Tax on all of its
income (and hence passes through only one tax, the Sea-
brook Tax, to its customers); Owner B escapes tax in New
Hampshire on only 50 percent of its total income and is
subject to tax in other States for the balance.1s

While a discriminatory impact is most easily percept-
ible in this in-state versus out-of-state comparison, the
New Hampshire tax scheme operates to discriminate in
varying degrees among Seabrook owners with interstate
operations, again depending on how much total income is
allocable to New Hampshire. To revisit my previous
hypothetical, assume three Seabrook owners: Owner A
with 50 percent of its income allocable to New Hamp-
shire, Owner B with 30 percent and Owner C with 20
percent. Each earns $100,000,000 and pays $10,000,000 in
Seabrook Tax. Owner A is subject to $4,000,000 in Busi-
ness Profits Tax; Owner B, $2,400,000; and Owner C,
$1,600,000. Using the Seabrook Tax credit, Owner A shel-
ters 50 percent of its total income from profits taxation,
Owner B 30 percent and Owner C 20 percent, each
remaining liable for corporate income taxation in the
States of Connecticut, Massachusetts and Rhode Island

14 The Seabrook Tax is projected to outstrip the Business
Profits Tax owed by every joint owner liable therefor in 1992 and
1993. Had the Seabrook Tax been assessed for the full year
instead of half-year in 1991, it would have outstripped Business
Profits Tax liability for all owners in that year as well. See
Appendix C.

15 The discriminatory effect is also illustrated by an exam-

ple drawn from the Stipulated Record, discussed in my section
on the Commerce Clause at pp. 29-34 below.
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need not know how unequal the Tax is before concluding
that it unconstitutionally discriminates”).

The bottom line — and the critically material feature —
of the Seabrook Tax-credit combination is that, the more
of a utility’s total net income is allocated to New Hamp-
shire, the greater that utility’s ability to shelter total
income from taxation (up to the amount of Seabrook Tax
paid). The discriminatory workings of this feature are
most readily apparent with respect to a utility that oper-
ates only in New Hampshire and therefore allocates 100
percent of its income to New Hampshire. The credit
ensures that such a utility will pay only one tax, the
Seabrook Tax, up to the point where its Business Profits
Tax liability exceeds the amount of the Seabrook Tax. The
two intrastate utilities owning shares of Seabrook in 1991
happened to pay no Business Profits Tax that year for
reasons unrelated to the credit — tax-exemption (New
Hampshire Co-op) and lack of net profit (PSNH) - but the
Seabrook Tax credit “backstopped” any intrastate utility,
guaranteeing that, no matter what its profits picture or tax
status, its intrastate customers would pay only one tax up
to the point of the full Seabrook Tax paid.

Assume, for example, that Seabrook Station is owned
in equal shares by Owner A and Owner B. All of Owner
A’s income, and 50 percent of Owner B’s income, is
allocable to New Hampshire. Owner A and Owner B each
earn $100,000,000. At the statutory rate of 8 percent,
Owner A’s Business Profits Tax liability is $8,000,000;
Owner B’s, $4,000,000. Owner A and Owner B each pay
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affirmative protection to free trade among the several
States:

[TJhe Commerce Clause was not merely an
authorization to Congress to enact laws for the
protection and encouragement of commerce
among the States, but by its own force created
an area of trade free from interference by the
States. . . . [T]he Commerce Clause even without
implementing legislation by Congress is a lim-
itation upon the power of the States.

Boston Stock Exchange, 429 U.S. at 328 (quoting Freeman v.
Hewit, 329 U.S. 249, 252 (1946)). While the constitutional
structure guarantees the “power of the states to tax for
the support of their own governments,” Gibbons v. Ogden,
9 Wheat 1, 199 (1824), the Commerce Clause operates to
ensure that taxes imposed by the States do not discrimi-
nate against interstate commerce. “No State may, consis-
tent with the Commerce Clause, ‘impose a tax which
discriminates against interstate commerce . . . by provid-
ing a direct commercial advantage to local business.””
Boston Stock Exchange, 429 U.S. at 329 (quoting North-
western States Portland Cement Co. v. Minnesota, 358 U.S.
450, 458 (1959)).

The test for validity of a tax under the Commerce
Clause is four-fold. A State tax is permissible if it “(1) has
a substantial nexus with the State; (2) is fairly appor-
tioned; (3) does not discriminate against interstate com-
merce; and (4) is fairly related to the services provided by
the State.” Maryland v. Louisiana, 451 U.S. at 754 (citing
Washington Revenue Dep’t v. Washington Stevedoring Ass'n,
435 U.S. 734, 750 (1978)). This four-factor test, earlier
stated in Complete Auto Transit, Inc. v. Brady, 430 U.S. 274,
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(as is in actual fact the case). Owner A is able to use 40
percent of its total possible Seabrook Tax credit; Owner B,
24 percent; and Owner C, 16 percent. Owner A is better
off than Owner B, and Owner B is better off than Owner
C, for one reason: greater business activity in New
Hampshire.16 This greater relative “burdening” of Owner
C and Owner B (“manufacturers, producers, wholesalers,
retailers”) results “indirectly” from the Seabrook Tax and
credit scheme, in contravention of 15 U.S.C. § 391.

RECOMMENDATION C: The Seabrook Tax and credit
violate the Commerce
Clause.

To determine whether the New Hampshire tax
scheme violates the Commerce Clause, I begin my anal-
ysis by noting the principle underiying the Clause: “The
very purpose of the Commerce Clause was to create an
area of free trade among the several States.” Boston Stock
Exchange v. State Tax Comm’n, 429 U.S. 318, 328 (1977)
(quoting McLeod v. ].E. Dilworth Co., 322 U.S. 327, 330
(1944)). In order to implement the explicit dictate of the
Commerce Clause that “Congress shall have Power . . . To
regulate Commerce . . . among the several States,” U.S.
Const. art. I, § 8, cl. 3, as well as the free trade principle
underlying it, the Clause has been interpreted to give

16 Again, the “skeleton” revealed in this hypothetical is
fleshed out by facts of record, as discussed at page 33 below and
displayed in the charts of Appendix C.
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hybrid tax scheme involving both a property tax and a
credit against the Business Profits Tax up to the full
amount of property tax liability. The fact that the Sea-
brook Tax and the credit provision were enacted in the
same legislative act suggests that they were intended to
function together to impose a new property tax levy and
simultaneously to provide relief in the same amount from
the Business Profits Tax on income allocable to New
Hampshire business activity. Indeed, the two are firmly
linked by a nonseverability clause that provides that the
Seabrook Tax and the credit provision must stand or fall
together in the face of a challenge to their constitu-
tionality. The two provisions operate in tandem to impose
a property tax liability, on the one hand, and to relieve
liability to New Hampshire for the Business Profits Tax to
the full extent of the property tax liability, on the other.

The Court has repeatedly struck down State tax stat-
utes that impose a greater tax burden on economic activ-
ities taking place outside the State than on similar in-state
activities. Maryland v. Louisiana, 451 U.S. 725; Boston Stock
Exchange, 429 U.S. 318; Westinghouse, 466 U.S. 388. In
Maryland v. Louisiana, the Court invalidated a Louisiana
statute that imposed a “first-use” tax on natural gas
brought into the State but also provided local users with

percent of coal was shipped out of State); Nordlinger v. Hahn, 112
S. Ct. 2326 (1992) (California property tax permitting longer
term property owners to pay lower taxes than new owners of
comparable property upheld as a reasonable tax classification).
It would be hard to say that New Hampshire did not have a
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